RECEIVED

JUL 07 2016

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Charleston County

Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

---

ORIGINAL

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ELLIOTT JUDON, JR.

APPELLANT

APPELLANT CASE NO. 2015-000728

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in denying Appellant Judon's motion to dismiss the case because crucial evidence of the in-car video from the police car was missing and had never been requested to be retrieved from the server by the arresting officers which was a violation of Appellant Judon's constitutional rights to a fair trial pursuant to the United States Constitution and the South Carolina Constitution and was indicative of bad faith on the part of the officers?
2. Did the trial court err in denying Appellant Judon's motion to suppress the drugs when the police officer's continued detention of Appellant, after stopping him for an illegal window tint and finding his driver's license valid, exceeded the scope of the stop and was a seizure pursuant to the Fourth Amendment thus making Appellant's consent to search his vehicle invalid as he was not free to leave?
3. Did the trial court err in denying Appellant Judon's motion to suppress his statement to police that he had drugs on his person when his statement was in furtherance of questioning by the officer, and was the product of coercion by the police as he was in handcuffs, had been arrested, and there was no proof that Miranda rights were provided which made his statement a violation of his constitutional rights?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On December 9, 2013, the Charleston County Grand Jury indicted Elliott J. Judon, Jr. on the charge of trafficking in cocaine base in excess of ten grams. On March 13-18, 2015, Appellant Judon proceeded to trial before the Honorable Kristi L. Harrington and a jury. Judon was represented by Melisa W. Gay, and the state was represented by Lauren B. Mulkey and Culver Kidd. R. 1 – 2. The jury returned a verdict of guilty as indicted. R. 406, ll. 1 – 25. Judge Harrington sentenced Appellant Judon to the mandatory life without parole (LWOP). R. 411, ll. 13 – 17.

This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On August 26, 2013, Appellant Elliott Judon, had picked up his stepson from school and had taken him to Judon's aunt's house on Constitution Avenue. R. 46, ll. 1 – 24. Judon left and was riding down Dorchester to the Meeting Street intersection. He noticed police officers following him closely. The officers initiated their blue light and Judon stopped shortly after. The officers approached Judon's car, and Judon gave them his driver's license and the rental agreement for the car he was driving. He had tinted the windows of this car as he did upholstery work and tinted windows sometimes. R. 330, ll. 1 – R. 333, ll. 7. The officers returned to the patrol car for five to ten minutes. R. 334, ll. 1 – R. 335, ll. 12.

At that point, according to Judon, one of the officers returned to Judon after checking his driver's license, and told him to step out of the car and step in front of the patrol car. Judon said he knew the patrol car had a camera because the officer told him to step in front of the camera. According to Judon's testimony, when he got out of the car, the officer patted him down and "played around his [Judon's] pants zipper area." R. 336, ll. 24 – R. 338, ll. 17.

One of the officers started asking him questions, and the other officer started searching Judon's car. According to Judon, neither of the officers had asked for Judon's consent to search his vehicle. The officer searching Judon's car found a digital scale and a knife located in the armrest of the car. R. 336, ll. 1 – 16.

The officer returned to Judon and told him of finding the scales and knife which the officer said had drug residue on them. Judon was placed in handcuffs and arrested because the officer said there were crumbs of crack found inside the car as well. R. 267, ll. 9 – 21; R. 269, ll. 1 – 7; R. 339, ll. 18 – R. 340, ll. 5.

Then Judon's testimony was that the officer patted him down again. The officer did not read his Miranda rights to him, but told Judon that he thought Judon had something on him. Judon denied this. Everyone was silent for a short time, and then Judon told the officer that he did have something on him. Judon said his pants were still undone from the officer patting him down earlier. The officer put on gloves and retrieved drugs from under Judon's crotch area inside his underwear briefs. Judon said he had put the drugs inside his pants before he left his aunt's house. These drugs were for his personal use. The officer did not ask consent to search Judon's person. R. 340, ll. 6 – R. 345, ll. 12; R. 350, ll. 17 – R. 351, ll. 25.

Officer John Stott, Jr. testified that he was sent to the Dorchester Whalen Terrace community on August 26, 2013 following a shooting that had occurred there earlier. The police department wanted to be visible to the community and to observe what was going on there. R. 260, ll. 1 – R. 264, ll. 2.

He observed Judon's car which had the windows tinted so darkly that he could not see inside the car. The dark window tint was the reason he stopped the car. Officer Stott was in a marked police car and had initiated his blue lights for Judon to stop. When he approached the car, according to the officer, Judon had his pants unzipped and his belt was open. Officer Stott explained the reason for the stop was the window tint, and he procured the driver's license and rental agreement. He described Judon as being "overly cooperative." R. 264, ll. 1 – R. 265, ll. 25.

The officer used the window tint meter and confirmed that the tint was over the legal limit. Officer Stott then had Judon get out of the car and had him stand at the rear of Judon's car and in front of the marked police car. R. 266, ll. 1 – 17; R. 283, ll. 9. Officer Stott asked

Judon for consent to search Judon's vehicle which Judon granted. The officer found the scales and the knife with residue of crack on them and pieces of crack throughout the front seat. These tested positive for crack on the field test. R. 266, ll. 10 – R. 267, ll. 21.

He placed Judon under arrest for possession of cocaine base or crack. . R. 269, ll. 7 – R. 270, ll. 20. According to Officer Stott, he read Judon's Miranda rights to him then from a card Officer Stott had with him. Then Officer Stott said that he confronted Judon with his "suspicions that he was concealing more drugs in his pants" because his pants were undone. Judon initially denied the accusation. R. 270, ll. 18 – R. 271, ll. 19. Then Officer Stott said he told Judon:

I explained to him that since he was under arrest for a drug violation, that once at the county jail, it's their policy to do a strip search and that if he was, in fact, concealing something inside of his pants, that he would be ---they would be located at that time.

R. 271, ll. 20 – R. 272, ll. 1.

Officer Stott then described Judon as becoming "increasingly nervous." The officer did not remember Judon's exact words but Judon admitted that drugs were concealed in the front of his pants. Judon nodded down and indicated that's where they would find them since his hands were behind his back. The officer found the drugs inside Judon's boxers. He was charged with trafficking crack based on the weight of the drugs. R. 272, ll. 2 – 25.

Lawrence Zivkovich was the forensic chemist with the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (SLED) who analyzed the drugs found in Judon's case. R. 314, ll. 1 – 25; R. 318, ll. 1 – 17. He confirmed that the all of the drugs were cocaine base. The weight of the drugs found on Judon was 10.1 grams, and the drugs from the car weighed .0-.1 grams. The drugs were admitted into evidence at that time. R. 322, ll. 1 – R. 323, ll. 20.

Officer Matthew Kirk testified that he was with Officer Stott during this incident with Judon on August 26, 2013. Officer Kirk was the backup officer for Officer Stott as Officer Stott was the one who talked with Judon. Officer Kirk said he heard Judon give consent to search. He ran Judon's license and found his license to be valid. According to Officer Kirk, Officer Stott found the items after Officer Kirk ran the check on Judon's driver's license. Officer Kirk stated that they normally issue a ticket for a window tint violation. The person would not be arrested for that. They would be issued the ticket and told to be in court in three weeks and that would be it. R. 295, ll. 1 – R. 304, ll. 25. Officer Kirk also verified that Judon was standing in front of the police car in range of the video camera. R. 305, ll. 1 – R. 306, ll. 2.

In a pretrial motion, defense counsel moved to dismiss the case against Judon on the basis that the police in-car video of the stop and arrest of Judon was never provided to the defense although a Rule 5 discovery request was submitted by the defense within a couple of weeks of his arrest. The video was not turned into evidence by the police. According to police procedure, the video was purged or taped over within 180 days if the officer did not request to have it turned into evidence. R. 6, ll. 1 – 8; R. 11, ll. 1 – R. 14, ll. 8.

Defense counsel argued that Judon was arrested by a marked patrol car, and Judon was told to stand in front of patrol car and was "basically told he was on video camera." Counsel argued that the police said this was a consent case, and Judon said he did not give consent. There was not a video to demonstrate which story was correct. Counsel reminded the court that at the status conference the prior week, Judon asked for the video as he said he was standing in front of the marked police car. R. 8, ll. 17 – R. 10, ll. 25.

The state acknowledged that the unit [car] which the police officers were driving was capable of recording as it had a camera and an in-car video. However, the state could not prove that it was working, but the state conceded that the recording was never entered into evidence. R. 8, ll. 3 12; R. 14, ll. 9 – 11. The state explained that the camera was activated automatically when the blue light came on, so it would have activated when the officers stopped Judon for the “equipment” violation. However, the officers would not know there was a problem with the camera until it was downloaded onto the server. The solicitor stated that the officers did not have any reason to believe the camera was not working but they did not see any reason or need to download the video. R. 14, ll. 6 – R. 16, ll. 11.

Defense counsel argued that there a video did exist as there was a working camera. The officers just did not preserve the video. Counsel argued that the officer “made some kind of subjective decision that it wasn’t---it didn’t have evidentiary value.” She argued that it had significant value to Judon who believed the police report was not accurate. R. 16, ll 15 – R. 21, ll. 25.

Following much discussion, the judge decided to hold a hearing on the motion to dismiss. R. 21, ll. 18 – R. 40, ll. 25. Luke Malloy testified that he represented Judon as his attorney initially. He served the Rule 5 request on the solicitor’s office on August 29, 2013, and with the clerk’s office on August 30, 2013. R. 42, ll. 1 – R. 45, ll. 23.

Appellant Judon testified that the police activated the blue light before they stopped him. The blue light continued to run. He was told to stand in front of the police car when they got him out of the car. The officers did not ask for his consent to search his car and he did not give consent. He did give them a bag of drugs from his crotch area. He did not

believe he was free to leave as the officers still had his driver's license. He did not receive a ticket for any traffic violation. R. 46, ll. 1 – R. 53, ll. 6.

Officer Stott testified at the hearing that Judon was stopped for an equipment violation and he activated the blue lights to make a stop of Judon. The violation was the window tint was unlawful. R. 71, ll.19 – R. 73, ll. 24. Officer Stott said he asked for consent to search Judon's car and his person which Judon granted. R. 75, ll. 9 – R. 77, ll. 10. The patrol car that he and Officer Kirk were in that day was equipped with an in-car video. The camera was mounted on the windshield inside. It recorded until the officer turned it off. Officer Stott said that he "typically watched these videos afterwards." However, he did not recall watching this video of Judon. He stated that he was not required by law to enter the video into evidence. R. 79, ll. 22 – R. 80, ll. 25. The solicitor asked what factors he used in deciding what should be admitted into evidence. He replied:

With this kind of charge, I mean, if it—if there was something that was of evidentiary value that wasn't already going to be submitted into evidence, maybe you would do that.

R. 81, ll. 8 – 13.

On cross examination, the officer admitted that he knew that a person who consents to a search could still constitutionally challenge the consent and the evidence could potentially be excluded. R. 91, ll. 10 – 25. He admitted that the video would have been helpful to clarify the situation when he and Judon had different views. R. 93, ll. 1 – R. 94, ll. 25.

Defense counsel then discussed the North Charleston Police Department Policy and Procedure Manual which was submitted by the solicitor in her Motion In Opposition to Dismissal. R. 419 - 428. Counsel pointed out Section III. N. 1 (b) which provided that prior

to each shift, the officers assigned to a vehicle equipped with a motor vehicle camera recorder will inspect the equipment, and will notify their immediate supervisor of any defect in the operation of the equipment. The supervisor will notify the properties service section who will have the technician repair the equipment and document it in the maintenance records. Officer Stott did not recall telling his supervisor of any problems with the in-car camera. Counsel reviewed the next section (c) which required officers to notify their supervisor if they could not log into MRI system prior to beginning their tour of duty. Officer Stott did not notify his supervisor of any problem logging into the system on August 26, 2013. R. 95, ll. 5 – R. 99, ll. 25.

Counsel then read Section (j) which provided that vehicle video tapes containing information that may be of value for case prosecution will be secured by the officer as evidence and placed into the North Charleston Police Department Property Room in accordance with Policy 0-08. Counsel then read Section (l) which provided that officers will document in incident, arrest, and related reports when MVR recordings were made during the incident in question. The officer responded that all of this assumed that the video camera was working. However, defense counsel pointed out that there was no evidence that the video camera was not working. R. 96, ll. 1 – R. 102, ll. 13. Officer Stott admitted that the decision of whether to put the recorded information into evidence was strictly up to the officer. It was “discretionary” with the officer. It was based on the facts of each stop. R. 104, ll. 1 – R. 106, ll. 21.

During his trial testimony before the jury, Officer Stott admitted that the Policy and Procedures Manual provided that if the information from the in-car video may be helpful, the officer will put the video into evidence. He testified that he did not ask for the video to

be put into evidence. R. 286, ll. 1 – 25. Officer Stott admitted that he did not ask to have a CD burned of the in-car video because he did not think it was necessary. He never saw the video. He admitted that he thought the video would have been helpful. He said: “I don’t disagree that it [video] would be beneficial.” R. 290, ll. 1 – R. 292, ll. 8.

Officer Scott Hille, the technology coordinator for the North Charleston Police Department, testified that he oversees the maintenance of the in-car videos system. He explained that after the video was “captured”, it was stored on a compact flash card within the digital video recorder (DVR). When the unit arrived at a Wi-Fi location at City Hall, it automatically downloaded via the Wi-Fi system and was stored internally at City Hall. The video was visible for officers to review for ninety days and then became invisible. After another ninety days, the video was purged. Then no record existed. During the first ninety days, the officers could review the video and request that a copy be burned and have the copy submitted into evidence. R. 109, ll. 1 – R. 112, ll. 2. He confirmed that the download was automatic but the review was done by the officers. Whether the officers submitted the video into evidence was entirely up to the discretion of the officer. R. 117, ll. 1 – 16.

Defense counsel then presented argument to the court citing the South Carolina Constitution which she argued “broadened some of those protections even more.” R. 133, ll. 1 – R. 134, ll. 24; Defense Motion to Dismiss. Counsel then cited case law which included Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51 (1988). R. 133, ll. 1 – R. 151, ll. 18. Which held that when material evidence was missing, a defendant must show bad faith on the part of the police. R. 158, ll. 1 –R. 159, ll. 25. Counsel argued:

And so in Youngblood it says that there’s two prongs, Your Honor, and I believe we’ve met them. It’s material. We know it’s material. And it was evident to the officer, the value or the materiality of it. And that—that’s, I think, what we really are talking about, Your Honor. A

video of a stop is material. I mean, if they're going to say it's not, then that makes no sense.

R. 158, ll. 24 – R. 159, ll. 6.

Following the arguments of the state and defense counsel, the judge denied defense counsel's motion to dismiss. R. 152, ll.1 – R. 167, ll. 4. The judge held that defense counsel had not established a due process violation, and the testimony failed to establish the exculpatory value of the evidence. R. 164, ll. 20 – R. 165, ll. 25.

Defense counsel also made a motion to suppress Judon's consent to search the car and the evidence from the car based on the lack of reasonable suspicion for the officers to exceed the scope of the stop. Judon's consent was the product of the unlawful detention. Counsel conceded that the initial stop for unlawful window tint was reasonable. However, the officer had no reasonable suspicion to go beyond obtaining Judon's driver's license and the rental agreement for the car. Counsel argued there were no facts to establish any reason for the officer to have removed Judon from his car. Counsel cited the case of State v. Tindall, 388 S.C. 518, 698 S.E.2d 203 (2010). Judon was detained and not free to leave. The officers did not have reasonable suspicion to believe that Judon was doing anything criminal. This consent and evidence were the "fruit of the poisonous tree." R. 231, ll. 1 – R. 234, ll. 25.

Judon testified that he was not free to leave during that time because the officers still had his driver's license, and he said he could not have driven off without his driver's license and rental car agreement. R. 132, ll. 1 – 11.

The judge ruled that there was reasonable suspicion to support the detention of Judon beyond the initial traffic stop. The judge cited the reasons of the appearance of Judon and his pants, the rental status of the car, and his anxious behavior in trying to hide the

unzipped portion of his pants. The officer testified that Judon consented to the search of his car. R. 247, ll. 21 – R. 248, ll. 19.

Defense counsel also moved to suppress Judon's statements to the police because they were made in furtherance of questioning and were not spontaneous nor voluntary. Counsel argued that "just because a person is supposed to have consented does not mean that there is not a constitutional problem." He was handcuffed, detained and seized. The officer said he Mirandized Judon, but Judon said he did not. There was no paperwork nor statement that Judon signed or was supposed to have signed for Miranda. Counsel argued this was an unlawful seizure and was unconstitutional. R. 234, ll. 16 –R. 237, ll. 21.

The judge found, pursuant to Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964), that all of the statements in the case were made voluntarily under the totality of the circumstances, and the statements were admissible. She stated that in order to find that the confession was not voluntary, she must find that there was coercive police activity. She ruled that there was no indication of coercive activity by the police. The judge said to defense counsel: "Note your exception to my ruling." R. 248, ll. 20 – R. 251, ll. 1.

At the close of the state's case, defense counsel made a motion for a directed verdict. She also renewed all of her prior motions which included her motion to dismiss, her motion to suppress, and her motion to suppress his statements. The state objected. The judge denied the motion. R. 325, ll. 1 – R. 327, ll. 16.

Following the testimony of Judon and at the close of the defense's case, defense counsel again renewed all of her motions. She stated that these included: "my motion for a directed verdict, my motion to dismiss, my motion to suppress statements and evidence, and any other motions that I've made objections along the way." R. 370, ll. 1 – 16.

Following testimony in the motion to suppress, defense counsel renewed her motion to dismiss. R. 227, ll. 1 – R. 228, ll. 17. After pretrial motions and just prior to the trial beginning, defense counsel renewed all of her motions. R. 252, ll. 1-6.

## ARGUMENT

### 1.

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