STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County
Kristi Lea Harrington, Circuit Court Judge

ORIGINAL
RECEIVED

JUL 18 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

ELLIOTT JUDON, Jr.,

Appellant.

Appellant Case No. 2015-000728

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

SCARLET A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

101 Meeting Street, Suite 400
Charleston, S. C. 29401
(843) 958-1900

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Charleston County

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

Judon cites Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1972) in attempt to conflate the concepts from Brady with Youngblood. The United State Supreme Court compared the two cases in Fisher as follows:

We have held that when the State suppresses or fails to disclose material exculpatory evidence, the good or bad faith of the prosecution is irrelevant: a due process violation occurs whenever such evidence is withheld. See Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963); United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 96 S.Ct. 2392, 49 L.Ed.2d 342 (1976). In Youngblood, by contrast, we recognized that the Due Process Clause “requires a different result when we deal with the failure of the State to preserve evidentiary material of which no more can be said than that it could have been subjected to tests, the results of which might have exonerated the defendant.” 488 U.S. at 57, 109 S.Ct. 333. We concluded that the failure to preserve this “potentially useful evidence” does not violate due process “*unless a criminal defendant can show bad faith on the part of the police.*” Id., at 58, 109 S.Ct. 333 (emphasis added).

Id. at 547-48 (finding destroyed narcotics in Fisher were like the “potentially useful evidence referred to in Youngblood, not the material exculpatory evidence addressed in Brady and Agurs.”).

Judon conflates the concepts at work in Youngblood and Brady further by relying on State v.

³ Further, Judon’s prior Rule 5, SCRCrimP request does not alter the result. The United States Supreme Court explained: “We have never held or suggested that the existence of a pending discovery request eliminates the necessity of showing bad faith on the part of police.” Fisher, 540 U.S. at 548 (2004). Judon does not raise Rule 5, SCRCrimP, as a ground for relief in his brief.

Osborne, 291 S.C. 265, 353 S.E.2d 276 (1987). The Supreme Court's opinion in Osborne offers, at most, a truncated analysis of a Brady violation for the purpose of correcting, but affirming in result, the Court of Appeals' opinion that incorrectly analyzed the materiality prong of Brady. See State v. Osborne, 289 S.C. 142, 345 S.E.2d 256 (Ct. App. 1986). The facts in Osborne are more clearly stated in the Court of Appeals' opinion in which the Court of Appeals noted that audio recordings of an inmate witness were not disclosed until the close of the State's case and after the inmate testified. The audio recordings contained multiple statements by the inmate possessing significant impeachment value. Id. at 146-47 n. 3, 345 S.E.2d at 259 n. 3.

Judon is not relieved of Youngblood's demand that he demonstrate bad faith by law enforcement, and therefore, Judon's reliance on Brady and Osborne is misplaced.

Further, no evidence in the record establishes a video recording was made. The most the record indicates is that the equipment appeared to be working at the time of the traffic stop. Even this assumption fails to show that the recording would contain useful information for the jury, much less exculpatory information. Knowing a video exists does not establish that an audio recording captured relevant conversation during the stop. Of course, the record fails to show that a video that might have existed at one time possesses exculpatory information. See Moses, 390 S.C. at 519, 702 S.E.2d at 404 (finding appellant failed to demonstrate erased video possessed exculpatory value).

Accordingly, the trial court did not err in denying Judon's motion to dismiss the case based on the alleged failure to preserve evidence.

II.

Evidence supports that Appellant validly consented to the search of his vehicle and he was not unlawfully detained. Appellant consented to the search within three minutes of being stopped for illegal tint in his windows, and the short detention was supported by numerous factors supporting reasonable suspicion that he was committing an offense. The issue is not preserved for review.

Judon argues that law enforcement illegally detained him and he did not validly consent to the search of his car. However, law enforcement's testimony established that he provided consent less than three minutes after the valid stop, and law enforcement had reasonable suspicion based on the circumstances to detain him.

For Fourth Amendment purposes, a traffic stop of a vehicle, along with the detention of individuals during the stop, constitutes a seizure. State v. Maybank, 352 S.C. 310, 315, 573 S.E.2d 851, 854 (Ct. App. 2002). "Where probable cause exists to believe that a traffic violation has occurred, the decision to stop the automobile is reasonable per se." State v. Adams, 377 S.C. 334, 338, 659 S.E.2d 272, 274 (Ct. App. 2008) (citing Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806, 810 (1996)).

"When a vehicle has been lawfully detained for a traffic violation, a police officer may order the driver to get out of the vehicle without violating the Fourth Amendment's proscription of unreasonable searches and seizures." Adams, 377 S.C. at 338, 659 S.E.2d at 274-75 (citing Pennsylvania v. Mimms, 434 U.S. 106, 111 (1977)).

"The constitutional immunity from unreasonable searches and seizures may be waived by valid consent." Palacio v. State, 333 S.C. 506, 514, 511 S.E.2d 62, 66 (1999) (citing Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347 (1967)). A warrantless search and seizure is reasonable if conducted with voluntary consent. Id. Consent is determined from the totality of circumstances. Id. This totality of

circumstances approach applies in both non-custodial and custodial situations. State v. Mattison, 352 S.C. 577, 584, 575 S.E.2d 852, 855 (Ct. App. 2003). The question of the voluntariness of consent to search is solely a question of fact and will not be reversed absent clear evidence. State v. Brockman, 339 S.C. 57, 66, 528 S.E.2d 661, 666 (2000). The ruling will be affirmed if supported by any evidence. Id.

Law enforcement may request permission to search at any time. State v. Tindall, 388 S.C. 518, 523, 698 S.E.2d 203, 206 (2010). “However, when an officer asks for consent to search after an unconstitutional detention, the consent procured is per se invalid unless it is both voluntary and not an exploitation of the unlawful detention.” Id. at 523-524, 698 S.E.2d at 206 (quoting Adams, 377 S.C. at 339, 659 S.E.2d at 275) (quotation marks omitted).

In the instant case, Judon does not contest that law enforcement had probable cause to stop Judon’s car based on the unlawful tint in the vehicle. Further, officers were allowed to request Judon to exit his vehicle. Officers did not complete the purpose of the stop at the time they asked for consent to search the vehicle: they did not give Judon a ticket for the tinted window and no evidence in the record indicated they completed a check on the driver’s license. Judon consented to a vehicle search in less than three minutes into the traffic stop. R. p. 82, lines 22-24. Additionally, Officer Stott testified the officers did not coerce or make a show of force to effectuate consent. R. p. 179.

The consent and search occurred promptly and during the normal course of the stop and therefore, did not impermissibly extend the duration of the stop. However, to the extent law enforcement was required to establish a reasonable suspicion to extend the duration of the stop, the officers provided evidence justifying the length of the traffic stop.

The Fourth Circuit Court of Appeals recently opined as follows:

While conducting the tasks associated with a traffic stop, a police officer's questions or actions need not be solely and exclusively focused on the purpose of that detention. . . . Rather, a police officer may ask questions unrelated to the purpose of the stop, provided that the unrelated questioning does not extend the encounter beyond the period reasonably necessary to effectuate the purposes of the lawful detention.

United States v. Digiovanni, 650 F.3d 498, 507 (4th Cir. 2011) (internal quotations and citation omitted).

Even if a traffic stop is initially lawful, the detention “can become unlawful if it is prolonged beyond the time reasonably required to complete [its] mission.” Illinois v. Caballes, 543 U.S. 405, 407 (2005); see State v. Pichardo, 367 S.C. 84, 98, 623 S.E.2d 840, 848 (Ct. App. 2005) (“Once the purpose of that stop has been fulfilled, the continued detention of the car and the occupants amounts to a second detention.”). But further detention for questioning subsequent to the conclusion of the purpose for the initial stop is not automatically unconstitutional. “An officer’s inquiries into matters unrelated to the justification for the traffic stop, this Court has made plain, do not convert the encounter into something other than a lawful seizure, so long as those inquiries do not measurably extend the duration of the stop.” Arizona v. Johnson, 555 U.S. 323 (2009). Continued questioning beyond the scope of the initial traffic stop is lawful and permissible if: (1) the officer has a reasonable articulable suspicion of other illegal activity; or (2) the traffic stop becomes a consensual encounter. Pichardo, 367 S.C. at 99, 623 S.E.2d at 848.

Reasonable suspicion consists of “‘a particularized and objective basis’ that would lead one to suspect another of criminal activity.” State v. Lesley, 326 S.C. 641, 644, 486 S.E.2d 276, 277 (Ct. App. 1997) (quoting United States v. Cortez, 449 U.S. 411, 417 (1981)). The reasonable suspicion standard “is a less demanding standard than probable cause and requires a showing considerably less

than preponderance of the evidence. . . .” Illinois v. Wardlow, 528 U.S. 119, 123 (2000). “Reasonable suspicion is more than a general hunch but less than what is required for probable cause.” State v. Willard, 374 S.C. 129, 134, 647 S.E.2d 252, 255 (Ct. App. 2007); see State v. Rogers, 368 S.C. 529, 534, 629 S.E.2d 679, 682 (Ct. App. 2006) (“Reasonable suspicion is something more than an inchoate and unparticularized suspicion or hunch.”).

In order for an officer to have reasonable suspicion regarding the presence of illegal drugs, the officer is required to have a particularized and objective basis arising from the totality of the circumstances that would lead an individual to suspect drugs are located in a lawfully stopped vehicle. State v. Banda, 371 S.C. 245, 254, n. 4, 639 S.E.2d 36, 41 n. 4 (2006); see, e.g., United States v. Sokolow, 490 U.S. 1, 9 (1989) (finding factors, which might be innocent by themselves, can equate to reasonable suspicion when considered as a whole).

“In applying the concept of reasonable suspicion to the various facts of the case, it is the entire mosaic that counts not single tiles.” State v. Wallace, 392 S.C. 47, 707 S.E.2d 451 (Ct. App. 2011) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted); see also United States v. Branch, 537 F.3d 328 (4th Cir. 2008) (judicial review of evidence offered to demonstrate reasonable suspicion must be commonsensical, focus on the evidence as a whole, and be cognizant of both context and the particular experience of police officers).

Factors consistent with innocent travel can give rise to reasonable suspicion of criminal activity when considered together and in context. Sokolow, 490 U.S. at 9. While individual factors standing alone may be insufficient to establish reasonable suspicion, in concert they may raise more than a simple hunch that criminal activity is afoot. United States v. Arvizu, 534 U.S. 266, 277 (2002) (“A determination that reasonable suspicion exists . . . need not rule out the possibility of

innocent conduct”); Branch, 537 F.3d at 339; United States v. McCoy, 513 F.3d 405 (4th Cir. 2008); United States v. Foreman, 369 F.3d 776, 785 (4th Cir. 2004). The Fourth Circuit recently noted the following:

... But just as one corner of a picture might not reveal the picture’s subject or nature, each component that contributes to reasonable suspicion might not alone give rise to reasonable suspicion. Indeed, it is often noted that the existence of reasonable suspicion is a case-specific inquiry, based on the totality of circumstances. Thus, each factor contributing to reasonable suspicion might be consistent with innocent travel but when taken together, might give rise to reasonable suspicion.

United States v. Mason, 628 F.3d 123, 129 (4th Cir. 2010) (internal quotations and citations omitted).

In State v. Provet, 391 S.C. 494, 706 S.E.2d 513 (Ct. App. 2011), this Court noted: “the combination of the commonplace items (i.e., numerous air fresheners, fast food bags, and several receipts) together with the surrounding circumstances (i.e., traveling two days without any luggage and inconsistent stories about where he was coming from and going to) eliminate a substantial portion of innocent travelers.” Id., 391 at 505, 706 S.E.2d at 519.

In the instant case, Officer Stott identified numerous factors justifying Judon’s continued detention: (1) the vehicle appeared to be a rental vehicle based on the lack of personal identifying features; (2) the vehicle had an illegal tint; (3) contrary to law, the car lacked the requisite sticker for a vehicle with tinted windows;⁴ (4) the lessee must have tinted the vehicle since major rental companies do not have tinted windows on their vehicles; (5) Judon did not immediately stop his vehicle and bypassed an ideal side street before ultimately pulling his vehicle to the side of the road; (6) Judon’s zipper was open and his belt was undone on his pants; (7) Judon’s explanation for having

⁴ Officer Kirk testified the lack of a validation sticker also constituted a violation. R. p. 301.

his pants open was that he had to use the bathroom, an answer Officer Stott found odd; (8) Judon gave evasive answers about where he is going or where he came from; and (9) Judon tried to conceal himself so the officers did not notice his pants being open.

This odd behavior provided Officer Stott reasonable suspicion that Judon was hiding contraband. "Courts are not remiss in crediting the practical experience of officers who observe on a daily basis what transpires on the street." Foreman, 369 F.3d at 782 (*quoting United States v. Lender*, 985 F.2d 151, 154 (4th Cir.1993)). Accordingly, Officer Stott had reasonable suspicion to extend the search at the time he attained Judon's voluntary consent to search the vehicle. "South Carolina appellate courts review Fourth Amendment determinations under a clear error standard." Provet, 405 S.C. at 107, 747 S.E.2d at 456. "When reviewing a Fourth Amendment search and seizure case, an appellate court must affirm if there is any evidence to support the ruling." State v. Wright, 391 S.C. 436, 442, 706 S.E.2d 324, 326 (2011). In the instant case, the trial court's ruling is supported by evidence. Accordingly, the trial court did not err in denying the motion to suppress the crack cocaine.

Further, the issue is not preserved for review because Judon did not renew his objection to the crack cocaine when it was offered into evidence. R. p. 323. A pre-trial ruling on the admission of evidence is not considered final and a party must renew his objection at the time the evidence is admitted. State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993). "We caution Bench and Bar that these pre-trial motions are granted to prevent prejudicial matter from being revealed to the jury, but do not constitute final rulings on the admissibility of evidence." State v. Floyd, 295 S.C. 518, 521, 369 S.E.2d 842, 843 (1988). Since Judon did not renew the objection, this issue should not be reviewed.

III.

Appellant's statement to law enforcement was voluntarily made without coercion and after Appellant was advised of his rights. Appellant did not renew his objection before the jury, and any error is harmless since Appellant admitted to the jury he possessed the crack cocaine found in his pants.

Judon argues his statement was involuntary. Evidence shows Judon was read his Miranda warnings and he was not coerced by law enforcement. Judon indicated during pre-trial motions that he informed law enforcement about the drugs in his underwear as a favor to him, so there is no basis to suggest that Judon's will was overborne. Judon freely admitted to the jury that the crack cocaine found in his pants was his, and therefore, the statement is cumulative to his own trial testimony. The issue is not preserved.

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